
STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

 

DIEGO A. HERRERA, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

WALT DISNEY WORLD/DISNEY OSPREY 

RIDGE GOLF, 

 

     Respondent. 

                                

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

)

) 

 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 10-3330 

   

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

Pursuant to notice, a formal administrative hearing was 

conducted by video teleconference between Orlando and 

Tallahassee, Florida, on October 25, 2010, before Administrative 

Law Judge Claude B. Arrington of the Division of Administrative 

Hearings (DOAH). 

APPEARANCES 

 

     For Petitioner:  Diego A. Herrera 

                      131 Bentley Oaks Boulevard 

                      Davenport, Florida  33896 

 

     For Respondent:  Katrina S. Lindsey, Esquire 

                      Walt Disney World Post Office Box 10000 

                      Orlando, Florida  32830 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 

Whether Respondent discriminated against Petitioner based 

on his race/national origin and retaliated against him for 

engaging in protected activity in violation of section 760.10, 
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Florida Statutes,
1
 when his employment was terminated on 

October 27, 2009, and, if so, the relief to which Petitioner is 

entitled. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 

At times relevant to this proceeding, Respondent, Walt 

Disney World (WDW), employed Petitioner as a gardener at Osprey 

Ridge Golf Course (Osprey Ridge).  Respondent terminated 

Petitioner's employment on October 27, 2009.  Thereafter, 

Petitioner filed a Charge of Discrimination with Florida 

Commission on Human Relations (FCHR) in which he alleged that 

Respondent discriminated against him because of his 

race/national origin when it terminated his employment.
2
  

Petitioner also alleged that his termination was in retaliation 

for his 2005 complaint of discrimination against his supervisor, 

Tami Jones.  FCHR investigated the subject Charge of 

Discrimination and on May 21, 2010, issued its "Determination:  

No Cause."  Thereafter, on June 15, 2010, Petitioner filed a 

Petition for Relief (Petition) from an unlawful employment 

practice, which reiterated the charges contained in the Charge 

of Discrimination.  On June 16, 2010, FCHR transmitted the 

Petition to DOAH to "conduct all necessary proceedings required 

under the law and submit recommended findings to the [FCHR]." 

At the final hearing, Petitioner testified on his own 
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behalf.  Petitioner presented no other witnesses and no 

exhibits. 

Respondent presented the testimony of Tami Jones (Assistant 

Superintendent of Osprey Ridge), Raymond Vazquez (Work Forman at 

Osprey Ridge), Marlene Saloman (Security Investigator for WDW), 

John Michael Davis (Labor Relations Manager for WDW), and Robert 

Karnes (Superintendent of Osprey Ridge).  Respondent offered one 

composite exhibit, which was admitted into evidence. 

A Transcript of the proceedings, consisting of one volume, 

was filed on January 7, 2011.  The parties filed Proposed 

Recommended Orders, which have been duly considered by the 

undersigned in the preparation of this Recommended Order. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

1.  Petitioner, an Hispanic male, was hired by WDW as a 

groundskeeper on March 4, 2002.  WDW promoted Petitioner to the 

position of gardener on July 26, 2006, which was the position he 

held when WDW terminated his employment on October 27, 2009. 

2.  Petitioner's employment was subject to the terms and 

conditions of a collective bargaining agreement. 

3.  At the time of his hire, Petitioner was provided with a 

copy of WDW's policy manual that covered all WDW employees.  

WDW's policy manual was in effect at all times relevant to this 

proceeding. 
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4.  WDW had a policy that prohibits an employee from 

engaging in harassing behavior and/or discriminating against 

someone on the basis of race, national origin, and/or gender. 

5.  WDW had a policy that prohibits an employee from 

retaliating against other employees who engaged in protected 

activity. 

6.  WDW had a policy that prohibits employees from 

threatening guests or co-workers with violence. 

7.  WDW had policy that prohibits employees from creating a 

hostile work environment. 

8.  Petitioner's job responsibilities as a gardener 

pertained to the maintenance of Osprey Ridge.  Petitioner's 

assignments included mowing greens and tees, raking sand 

bunkers, and repairing areas that had been washed-out by a 

rainstorm. 

9.  WDW hired Tami Jones (Ms. Jones) as an assistant 

superintendent for Osprey Ridge on August 2, 2004.  Ms. Jones 

had supervisory responsibility of a staff of 25 that included 

Petitioner. 

10.  On June 25, 2005, Ms. Jones directed Petitioner and a 

co-worker, Chris Meeks, to repair the lips of a sand bunker that 

had been damaged by a rainstorm.  In response to this direction, 

Petitioner claimed that Ms. Jones was discriminating against 

him.  Petitioner contended that Ms. Jones assigned him more 
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difficult tasks than the tasks assigned non-Hispanics because he 

was Hispanic.  Ms. Jones contacted Raymond Vazquez 

(Mr. Vazquez), who spoke fluent Spanish, to come over to where 

she was talking to Petitioner to make sure that there was no 

language barrier and to make sure she properly understood 

Petitioner's allegations. 

11.  As required by policy, Ms. Jones reported Petitioner's 

complaint to WDW Human Resources.  WDW Human Relations 

investigated Petitioner's 2005 complaint.  At the conclusion of 

the investigation, Ms. Jones received no discipline. 

12.  On October 15, 2009, Petitioner got upset with a co-

worker, Augusto Baque (Mr. Baque), and told him that he would 

hit him if he (Mr. Baque) were not so old. 

13.  Mr. Baque reported the incident to Mr. Vazquez.  

Mr. Vazquez did not immediately report the incident to anyone.  

The day after Mr. Baque reported the incident to Mr. Vazquez, 

Mr. Baque asked Mr. Vazquez who he had told about the incident.  

It was after that inquiry that Mr. Vazquez decided he needed to 

report the incident to his superiors. 

14.  On October 21, 2009, Mr. Vazquez told Mr. Karns, who 

was then the superintendent of Osprey Ridge, and Ms. Jones about 

the October 15 incident.  Ms. Jones called John Michael Davis 

(Mr. Davis), Labor Relations Manager for WDW, who advised her to 
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call security.  Thereafter, Mr. Karns immediately contacted WDW 

security. 

15.  On October 22, Marlene Saloman and Frank Regiacorte 

(the investigators) from the WDW Security Workplace Violence 

Unit went to Osprey Ridge to conduct an investigation of the 

October 15, 2009, incident. 

16.  The investigators interviewed Mr. Baque, who told them 

that Petitioner had twice threatened to hit him and then said he 

would not do so because Mr. Baque was so old. 

17.  The investigators also interviewed Petitioner, who 

admitted making the statements described by Mr. Baque. 

18.  The investigators provided Mr. Karnes with a copy of 

the statements they had taken. 

19.  Mr. Karnes suspended Petitioner's employment after he 

reviewed Petitioner's statement. 

20.  The investigators provided to Mr. Davis an 

investigation report that included the statements from 

Petitioner and from Mr. Baque. 

21.  On October 27, 2009, Mr. Davis concluded that 

Petitioner had exhibited threatening and hostile behavior in the 

workplace by the statements he made to Mr. Baque on October 15, 

2009.  In accordance with WDW policy and past practice, 

Mr. Davis recommended to Mr. Karns that Petitioner's employment 

be terminated. 



7 
 

22.  Mr. Davis was not aware of Petitioner's race/national 

origin at the time he recommended that Petitioner's employment 

be terminated. 

23.  Mr. Davis was aware of at least four other WDW 

employees who engaged in similar behavior during 2009 and were 

separated from the company. 

24.  On October 27, 2009, Mr. Davis consulted with 

Mr. Karnes and gave him his recommendation regarding 

Petitioner's employment.  Mr. Karnes immediately terminated 

Petitioner's employment.  Mr. Karnes told Petitioner that his 

employment was terminated because he had violated the company 

policy that prohibits threatening guests and co-workers and 

creating a hostile work environment.
3
 

25.  Ms. Jones had no input in the decision to terminate 

Petitioner's employment. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 

26.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of this 

proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11, 

Florida Statutes. 

27.  The Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992 (FCRA) is 

codified in sections 760.01 through 760.11, Florida Statutes. 
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28.  Pursuant to section 760.10(1)(a), it is unlawful for 

an employer to terminate the employment of any individual based 

on that individual's race or national origin. 

29.  The FCRA was patterned after Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C Sections 2000 et seq.  Federal case 

law interpreting Title VII is applicable to cases arising under 

the FCRA.  See Valenzuela v. GlobeGround North America, LLC, 18 

So. 3d 17, 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) and Brand v. Florida Power 

Corp., 633 So. 2d 504, 509 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). 

30.  Petitioner bears the burden of proving by a 

preponderance of the evidence that Respondent discriminated 

against him based on his race/national origin.  See Valenzuela, 

18 So. 3d at 22. 

31.  Discriminatory intent may be established through 

direct, circumstantial, or statistical evidence.  See United 

States Postal Serv. Bd. of Governors v. Aikens, 460 U.S. 711, 

714 (1983), Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 21. 

32.  Direct evidence is evidence that, if believed, would 

prove the existence of discriminatory intent without resort to 

inference or presumption.  See Wilson v. B/E Aero., Inc., 376 

F.3d 1079, 1086 (11th Cir. 2004)("Direct evidence is 'evidence, 

that, if believed, proves [the] existence of [a] fact without 

inference or presumption.'"). 
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33.  Petitioner offered no direct evidence that Respondent, 

acting through Mr. Davis and Mr. Karnes, discriminated against 

him based on his race or national origin. 

34.  Petitioner offered no statistical evidence that 

Respondent, acting through Mr. Davis and Mr. Karnes, 

discriminated against him based on his race or national origin. 

35.  Where a complainant attempts to prove intentional 

discrimination using circumstantial evidence, the shifting 

burden framework established by the United States Supreme Court 

in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 

1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973) and Texas Dep't of Cmty Affairs v. 

Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 L. Ed. 2d 207 (1981) 

is applied.  Those decisions, and the long line of cases that 

followed established the following framework to establish a 

prima facie case of discrimination based on race/national 

origin:  (1) Proof that the claimant is a member of a protected 

class; (2) Proof that the claimant was qualified for his 

position; (3) Proof that the claimant suffered an adverse 

employment action; and (4) Proof that similarly situated 

employees outside the employee's protected class were treated 

more favorably.  See Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 21. 

36.  Petitioner established prongs 1, 2, and 3 of the 

analysis. 
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37.  Petitioner did not establish prong 4 of the analysis.  

There was no evidence that any employee outside of Petitioner's 

protected class was treated more favorably than Petitioner.  

Consequently, his assertion that Respondent discriminated 

against him based on his race/national origin should be 

rejected.   See Jones v. Bessemer Caraway Med. Ctr., 137 F.3d 

1306, 1311 (11th Cir. 1998). 

38.  To establish a claim of retaliation, Petitioner had to 

prove (1) that he engaged in a protected activity, (2) that he 

was subjected to an adverse employment action, and (3) the two 

events were causally related.  See McCann v. Tillman, 526 F. 3d 

1370 (11th Cir. 2008) and Wideman v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 141 

F.3d 1453, 1457 (11th Cir. 1998). 

39.  Petitioner engaged in a protected activity when he 

accused Ms. Jones of discrimination in 2005.  Although Ms. Jones 

was a part of Petitioner's chain of command when his employment 

was terminated in 2009, the record is clear that she had no 

input in the decision to terminate his employment.  The claim of 

discrimination in 2005 and the termination of Petitioner's 

employment in 2009 are wholly unrelated events.  Consequently, 

it is concluded that Petitioner failed to establish a prima 

facie case of retaliation. 

40.  Because Petitioner failed to establish a prima facie 

case for either of his contentions, it is unnecessary to 



11 
 

determine whether Respondent articulated a legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason for terminating his employment.  Had 

such a determination been necessary, the undersigned would have 

concluded Respondent articulated a legitimate, nondiscriminatory 

reason for terminating Petitioner's employment.  In light of the 

reason articulated by Respondent, Petitioner must produce 

competent evidence to show either his race/national origin or 

retaliation for exercising his protected right in 2005 actually 

motivated the discharge, or (2) that Respondent's 

nondiscriminatory explanation is a false pretext.  See Reeves v. 

Sanderson Plumbing Prods. Inc., 120 S. Ct. 2097 (2006).  

Petitioner has produced no credible evidence that Respondent's 

action was actually motivated by his race or national origin, 

and he produced no evidence that Respondent's articulated reason 

for its action was a false pretext for discrimination. 

41.  Petitioner has not met his burden of proof in this 

proceeding. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED:  That the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations enter a final order that dismisses Petitioner's claims 

of discrimination. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 1st day of February, 2011, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

 

S                                   

CLAUDE B. ARRINGTON 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 1st day of February, 2011. 

 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1
/  Unless otherwise noted, each reference to a statute is to 

Florida Statutes (2010), and each reference to a rule is to the 

rule as published in Florida Administrative Code as of the date 

of this Recommended Order. 
 
2
/  Inexplicitly, Petitioner's Charge of Discrimination alleged 

that the date of the discharge was April 1, 2009. 

 
3
/  Respondent introduced evidence as to several incidents that 

resulted in Petitioner's receiving a reprimand.  Those incidents 

are not discussed in detail and have not been considered by the 

undersigned because Mr. Davis did not know about them when he 

recommended that Petitioner's employment be terminated 

(Transcript, page 58, beginning at line 23) and Mr. Karns 

testified that Petitioner was terminated because he created a 

hostile work environment (Transcript, page 65, beginning at line 

13).  Neither decision maker relied upon Petitioner's 

disciplinary history in deciding to terminate Petitioner's 

employment. 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 




